

Incorporating new assistive technologies into elder care and the related ethical challenges



red.es

About Digital Future Society

Digital Future Society is a non-profit transnational initiative that engages policymakers, civic society organisations, academic experts and entrepreneurs from around the world to explore, experiment and explain how technologies can be designed, used and governed in ways that create the conditions for a more inclusive and equitable society.

Our aim is to help policymakers identify, understand and prioritise key challenges and opportunities now and in the next ten years in the areas of public innovation, digital trust and equitable growth.

Visit digitalfuturesociety.com to learn more









Permission to share

This publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International License (CC BY-SA 4.0).

Published July 2024

Disclaimer

The information and views set out in this report do not necessarily reflect the official opinion of Mobile World Capital Foundation. The Foundation does not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this report. Neither the Foundation nor any person acting on the Foundation's behalf may be held responsible for the use which may be made of the information contained herein.



Contents

Introduction	5
1. State of the art: assistive technologies in elder care in Europe, Japan and Spain	6
1.1 The situation in Europe	6
1.2 The situation in Japan	7
1.3 The case of Spain	8
2. Ethical and social implications	12
2.1 Ethical issues	12
2.2 Design and legislation issues	13
2.3 Conceptualisation of old age	14
2.4 Transformation of care practices	15
3. Lines of research to pursue	16
3.1 Technical issues	16
3.2 Psychosocial issues	17
Conclusions and recommendations	19
References	21
Acknowledgements	25



Introduction

The intensive use of technology in elder care is becoming an increasingly viable option to address ageing populations in post-industrial societies. Ageing populations are a universal phenomenon in the West, with regional peculiarities existing within it. This paper **explores the progress and implementation of technological solutions in elder care in Spain.**

To this end, **Digital Future Society (DFS) conducted a systematic literature review of coverage in the press and the scientific literature in Spain between 2010 and 2023**. Based on the knowledge gathered the paper identifies opportunities and knowledge gaps, provides an ethical reflection on the transformation of care work, examines public opinion, and offers an overview of the state of international developments on the issue. The paper also offers recommendations and suggestions for potential future lines of research.

Some of the technologies currently in use, such as telehealth devices, already have a long history. Other solutions, such as social robotics, represent more recent developments and promising areas of research. All aim to address the challenges ageing populations present and meet the aspirations and care needs of older people. Objectives include facilitating greater independence, improving the quality of life and extending the time spent living in comfortable, family environments.

The **analysis** of the **revised literature** offers an initial diagnosis of the situation in Spain, however, the number of papers and articles on care technologies in the Spanish context is small. Currently, **the prevailing interest is in the newest area, social robotics**. References to telehealth and home automation also exist but to a lesser extent.

There are also a limited number of **pilot experiences in Spain**, though these have not always given rise to scientific literature.

State of the art: assistive technologies in elder care in Europe, Japan and Spain



The relationship between older people and care technologies has been extensively addressed internationally in both academic publications and the mass media. However, in Spain there is less coverage. Therefore, before addressing the state of the issue from a national perspective, this section will briefly address the situation in Europe and Japan due to their unique characteristics. These experiences will then serve as a backdrop to the findings for Spain.

1.1 The situation in Europe

According to statistics from the latest Eurobarometer dedicated to technology, **European citizens are largely unsupportive of the use of certain technologies for care**. Only 30% would approve of a robot attendant being responsible for their care when they reach old age or in the case of illness. Moreover, 72% believe that those robots would be 'stealing' jobs from people (European Commission 2017).

In Europe, the ageing population presents significant challenges for elder care. Digital technologies are undoubtedly a promising option and substantial resources have been allocated alongside considerable hope.



The Active and Assisted Living Joint Research and Development Programme (AAL) is one of the main exponents of this effort. It is framed under the objectives of the Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme, in the area called "Societal Challenges: Health, demographic change and well-being". Since 2013 it has enabled the **investment of more than 440 million EUR** in 13 countries to support the development of care technologies such as **robotics, home automation and telehealth** (AAL Programme 2023).

Under this programme, **care robots are one of the most innovative areas**. In countries such as Spain, Germany, the United Kingdom and Sweden, pilot projects and research programmes in care homes are being conducted to assess the impact of these robots on the quality of life and well-being of users. Even so, **their integration remains problematic**. The robots used, such as Paro and Pepper, require a lot of technical assistance and sometimes do not offer sufficient added value to justify their use (Cortellessa et al. 2021).

Introducing robotics into homes requires rethinking the workflow of caregivers to **appropriately integrate human-robot interaction**. This will prevent inefficiencies that could lead to poor care or a deficient return on investment, which could discourage implementation.

In other words, **incorporating robots into elder care has a different impact to that of digitalisation** which can involve remote monitoring with sensors or cameras. It introduces a transformation into the field of care and, as such, requires change management for adoption and acceptance. This would help governments be able to perceive the investment as profitable (Wright 2023) and would improve the responsiveness of caregivers and public opinion regarding the integration of robots into care.

Concerning digitalisation, **remote monitoring technologies have exploded** in Europe over the last decade, with a **great cost-benefit ratio** compared to robots. These systems, which many insurers offer, consist of **placing smart sensors, cameras, clothing or wearable (portable) accessories and mobile applications into homes**. These devices allow healthcare professionals and family members to monitor the health and well-being of older people remotely, with procedures that are unintrusive and comfortable for care practices **(**EU Health Programme 2019).

1.2 The situation in Japan

For decades, Japan has been noted for its **dense population and high level of technological advancement**, with industry globally recognised for quality and innovation. But its current circumstances are far from ideal. The low birth rate, low immigration, the post-World War II baby boom and long life expectancy have led to a demographically challenging scenario.

The drastic reversal of the population pyramid has resulted in **few young people being available for care tasks** and an **increasingly large population of dependent elderly people**. Almost 30% of the population is 65 years old or over and people are leaving the country at an alarming rate (Oliver 2015). This is one of the reasons why Japan's government and large technology companies are **investing large sums into R and D to develop the care industry and improve the quality of life of this sizeable segment of the population**. Between 2013 and 2017, still in an emerging market, the Japanese government invested **the equivalent of more than 300 million EUR** in programmes to develop robots and other technologies for older people (Wright 2023).

According to 2022 data, **the domestic market in Japan reached 17 million EUR in 2021**, with an expected year-on-year growth rate of 12%. At this rate, private turnover will reach 23 million EUR by 2025, when it is estimated that there will be 320,000 caregivers to cover demand (Yano Research Institute 2022).

From a cultural perspective, **Japanese society is highly receptive to the use of robots**. In Japan, inanimate objects are considered beings with their own soul and are more highly valued than in many other cultures, including most European societies (Nomura et al. 2015). Humanoid robots are found in places like restaurants and hotels and are very well-received by the general public.

Furthermore, socially displaying physical weakness is usually avoided and the presence of non-family members for caregiving tasks is viewed as intrusive (Anshin 2009). Assistive robots could, therefore, provide more personalised and intimate help, aligning better with the values of this society. Even so, like in other parts of the world, tests with robots such as Paro and Pepper have had mixed results, given that while they are more accepted, their current functions and capabilities do not justify their high cost (Kolstad et al. 2020).

Studies bear this out, suggesting that in Japan the implementation of care robots is a technical rather than a social problem. **Their potential and acceptance are high, but their cost and care benefits must be improved** to justify their use (Hsu et al. 2020).

1.3 The case of Spain

1.3.1 The presence of robots in the media

In general, the media in Spain seem to agree that **robotics must soon play an essential role in caring for the elderly**. There is a consensus regarding the problems arising from the **rapid ageing of the population** in Spain, including a potential **shortage of caregivers**. In this context, the use of robots is seen as a potential solution to address the issue.

According to articles in the press, **robots can be effective allies in the fight against unwanted loneliness**, which is seen as a pressing issue and largely responsible for the deterioration of the living conditions of older people. In addition, if robots were able to mitigate this unwanted loneliness, they would also contribute to enabling **a general wish of the elderly: to age in their own home to the greatest extent possible** (Aceros 2018).



In fact, according to 2011 data, **87.3% of Spanish seniors wish to continue living in their own homes, even if they live alone** (Imserso 2011). According to a 2020 survey, 72% of older people prefer to stay at home for as long as possible (Fundación Pascual Maragall 2021), even those who face difficulties from Alzheimer's.

Robotics sometimes appear to be the natural evolution of telehealth, which has traditionally been the main resource supporting ageing at home. The advantage of robotics lies in mobility, and not being confined to a fixed location in the home. However, the role robots may play in accompanying the elderly remains unclear **as what they can offer at present could only be described as modest** — a far cry from the images science fiction gives us.

Robots in residential care homes can provide services such as announcing the menu, remembering scheduled events, offering personalised information or helping to make video calls. As for **older people living alone at home**, the possibilities include helping to exercise the mind with games on the robot touchscreen, providing exercise routines for those who have long been inactive, detecting falls, remembering appointments and taking medications.

Additionally, **robots currently struggle to have 'real' conversations** with older people, akin to person-to-person interactions. However, this could change soon due to recent advances in natural language processing (NLP), a branch of artificial intelligence (AI) that enables more sophisticated understanding, interpretation, and generation of human language (Tellex et al. 2020).

In any event, the level of satisfaction with the few pilot experiences discussed in the press appears to be rather positive.

Nevertheless, while **references to the ethical issues** in the press are unusual, some considerations can be found. **The main concern is substituting people with robots** to perform tasks that require human skills, such as empathy and emotional expression. There is widespread consensus that **robots should exist as a complement to human caregivers, rather than replacing them**. Human interactions are deemed essential for well-being, so care based solely on robots is considered inadequate.

Other ethical issues that have emerged on a less recurrent basis have to do with **information processing and the privacy of those under care and liability in the event of an accident**. The review found only one reference to the human rights of people in care, but it is important to mention this, as it provides a human rights framework for assessing the suitability of the technologies used in care.

Regarding **other technologies used in care tasks**, the review found only a few **references to smart walkers and the use of sensors in private homes**. Smart walkers are mentioned in pilot experiences still in their early stages. The use of sensors in homes is more advanced, monitoring the movements and routines of users and **registering and alerting irregularities such as strokes or falls.**

Lastly, in the media analysis, the review found only one reference to **the concept of co-design**, which involves incorporating the users and recipients of the service into the design process.

1.3.2 The presence of robots in the scientific literature

In the Spanish context, research on assistive technology encompasses a diversity of devices and services, categorised into two main areas based on the state of empirical exploration: telehealth and home automation, and robotics.

Overall, the literature takes a primarily engineering perspective and does not adequately cover social aspects. This technological focus is not unique to the Spanish context but reflects an international trend in this type of research.

Consequently, there is a knowledge gap regarding how social relationship networks and personal identities are transformed when technology is introduced into elderly care settings (Cifuentes et al. 2020). In addition, information is lacking on the role that the social sciences — such as sociology, social psychology and anthropology — could play in technological development (Mlynář et al. 2018), as well as the perceptions of health professionals and care home residents toward these advances (Koh et al. 2021).

In the case of telehealth and home automation, the Spanish context has a long history of exploration and pilot testing (Luperto et al. 2023; Asl et al. 2022). Specifically, there was a remarkable surge in publications between 2005 and 2015. More recently, this trend has significantly shifted, with a drastic decline in scientific literature on the subject rendering it residual. However, commercial applications such as telemedicine have seen a significant increase, especially since the COVID-19 crisis.

In Spain, the integration of telehealth into the daily lives of older people dates to the adoption of telehealth services introduced by the Red Cross in the early 1990s (Leal et al. 2012). Since then, this incorporation has facilitated a large number of social studies focused on analysing its effects and regulations.

Knowledge has been developed regarding how the design and operation of remote care systems contribute to defining good care practices. This understanding has enabled a deeper examination of various age-related issues, including the social implications of ageing. For instance, the resistance of some users to wearing a necklace or bracelet that allows them to contact the alarm centre suggests older people are not comfortable with the prevailing societal view of old age as being a stage of fragility requiring constant surveillance (Aceros et al. 2013).

Robotics remains an emerging research field, tending to focus on developing care relationships through socio-emotional connections with technical devices (Aceros 2018). In Spain today, robots for older people consist of companions that can interact with their users, respond to their affections and entertain them, while also contributing to strengthening autonomy and independence (Ibid.).



In recent years there has been significant growth in national and especially European funding for research, development, and innovation (RDI) in robotics technologies (Fernández Bernat et al. 2017). In addition, important research groups have been consolidated, such as the Robotics Lab at the Carlos III University of Madrid, the CARTIF Technological Center in Valladolid, the Institute of Robotics for Dependency at the Ave María Foundation located in Sitges (Barcelona), and the Social Living Lab, which is part of the Ave María Foundation robotics and home automation dependency laboratory inaugurated last year, led by the University of Malaga and the Ministry of Social Inclusion of the Junta de Andalusia.

Since around 2017, various projects have been initiated focusing on the development and testing of social robots designed for the elderly, including those living in residential care centres (Hoyo et al. 2016; Salichs et al. 2017). These robots perform specific functions, including facilitating non-pharmacological therapies, reminding users of medication schedules, providing meal assistance, offering companionship and information, delivering cognitive training, and detecting physical frailty. Prominent robots in Spain include Pepper, Temi and ARI, Felipe and Walkit, and Misty II.

However, empirical experiences carried out in Spain remain limited and the continuity of the use of robotics is a key challenge in pilot tests, especially when aimed at helping fragile people (Cortellessa et al. 2021). Spain is still at an early stage, with a very low level of commercialisation compared to countries with higher levels of economic development and robust social security systems (Rozo-Reyes 2010). In short, today in Spain for those over 65 years of age, robots are more of a promise than a reality (Aceros 2018).



New digital technologies have been brought into the care sector gradually over the last decade. During this time, various questions and concerns have arisen regarding the ethical dilemmas this generates and uncertainties surrounding the legislation that should regulate its use.

These considerations encompass a wide range of topics, including the conceptualisation of old age, the transformation of care practices and the gender perspective.

2.1 Ethical issues

The introduction of technologies, particularly robotics, into elder care has sparked new controversies and ethical debates. **Four sensitive aspects are especially relevant**: deception, the substitution of humans with robots, privacy, and liability (Vallès-Peris and Domènech 2020a).

Firstly, **deception** refers to the **risk that people will be unable to understand how technologies work and what their capabilities are**. In the case of robotics, a lack of understanding of the artificial nature of the robot could lead someone to maintain a close relationship with a robot as if it were a real person. The emotional and psychological effects of deception are even more problematic when it comes to vulnerable groups, such as dependent elderly people.

The second ethical issue to consider is the substitution of humans with robots (Domènech 2023). The concern is whether integrating digital technologies into care could reduce human contact and negatively affect the personal relationships and emotional well-being of older people. From this perspective, it is important to consider those technologies designed to address unwanted loneliness.



Incorporating technologies into elder care also gives rise to **concerns for users' privacy and data security**. One challenge in the development of these technologies is discerning between confidential information and information that can be disclosed. Another is ensuring the data, including information collected and recordings, are stored securely.

Finally, care technologies also raise **liability issues** such as: who is responsible if a robot makes a mistake? To avoid these types of ethical and legal problems, **liability in case of injury or harm to a person** must be clearly defined. This involves establishing responsibilities beforehand among the various actors involved: manufacturers, developers, suppliers and end-users.

2.2 Design and legislation issues

The 2023 report by the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA) Fundamental Rights of older persons: ensuring access to public services in digital societies shows that **legislation in European Union (EU) countries does not always recognise the risk of digital exclusion or address the barriers** older people may face (FRA 2023). This is in contrast with data from the EU itself, which shows that only 1 in 4 people aged 65 to 74 has basic digital skills, meaning **this group faces the most difficulties when accessing new digital technologies** and requires the most help to use them correctly (Casamayou and Morales González 2017).

For this reason, the EU has opted to follow the recommendations of the FRA and legally guarantee, both with European regulations and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) as well as through articles such as Article 50 of the Spanish Constitution, **that technology be designed and used in a way that respects the dignity and rights** of this group. This includes considerations regarding the privacy of individuals and their data, their autonomy and equity of access.

It is important to acknowledge that autonomous decision-making among older people regarding the use of care technologies is often challenging or simply impossible, due to their lack of technical knowledge (due to a lack of digital literacy) or their physical or cognitive condition. This has made clear the need to impose an ethical responsibility on the part of the developers and suppliers of these technologies through regulation.

In addition, it is important to emphasise that **the design of assistive technologies for the elderly** must focus on the needs and capacities of older people, empathising with their abilities, without becoming paternalistic, which can lead to rejection. **These technologies should be inclusive, accessible and easy to use, taking into account the physical and cognitive limitations** that some more vulnerable groups may experience. Studies indicate that design practices can often be contaminated by a distorted and prejudiced conceptualisation of ageing, in part due to the absence of integration processes or user involvement in product development (Fisk et al. 2009).

In line with the recommendations of the FRA, political agreement has recently been reached **for the EU regulation on AI**, aiming to ensure that AI systems commercialised on the European market and used in the EU are safe and respect the fundamental rights of all citizens and EU values (European Council 2023). In addition, UNESCO has recently developed a series of **guidelines on the ethics of AI**, which **can serve as a guide for legislation in the field of care and the treatment of robotics with people** (UNESCO 2023).

2.3 Conceptualisation of old age

The design and development of care technologies do not occur in a vacuum. It is articulated within the context of socially current and specific notions of ageing and the discourse that surrounds it. This leads to the projection of certain identities, the definition of appropriate activities for old age and the promotion of desirable environments for ageing (Aceros et al. 2014).

It is essential, therefore, to consider the notion of old age that the designs convey, especially considering that a significant proportion of the literature on technology and the elderly includes a set of stereotypes regarding this group (Frennert and Östlund 2014). In the Spanish context and beyond, we find that **old age is portrayed as a homogeneous group characterised by loneliness, weakness and the need for help**.

Furthermore, even well-known social robots like Paro and Aibo do not fully address all the needs of the elderly or their caregivers (Broekens et al. 2009). These **robots are designed without direct input from older adults,** leading to a focus on generalised needs derived from medical care demands and demographic changes rather than addressing the specific concerns identified by older individuals themselves (Frennert and Östlund 2014).

In contrast, evidence indicates that older people are far from passive consumers of technological devices. **Whenever their conditions allow, they adapt to them and use them creatively to meet their needs** (Joyce and Loe 2010).

In fact, in a recent study on robotics requirements, **older people and caregivers established an extensive list of their requirements** (García-Soler et al. 2018). These included specific support functions for daily activities, cognitive and social supports, and requirements related to oversight, privacy and security. The list also covered tasks related to cleaning, lifting heavy objects and recognition and communication of emergencies (Ibid.).

Therefore, **the literature does not offer conclusive findings regarding older people's reception of technological innovations** in the field of care. Obstacles such as digital illiteracy and physical and cognitive impairments hinder the integration of technologies into their lives. On the other hand, there is increasing evidence suggesting growing interest and active involvement by older people in the development and use of new technologies.

One explanation for this apparent paradox is the fact that this population is perceived to be predominantly homogeneous. Yet, like any population group, **older people are highly heterogeneous**, and the variability of cases and individual aptitudes with technology can be wide-ranging.

In Catalonia, for instance, approximately 1.5 million people are over the age of 65. This accounts for 20% of the population according to IDESCAT data (IDESCAT 2023). One challenge for the designers and developers of technologies for elder care is addressing a highly heterogeneous group with diverse habits, behaviours, and a wide range of physical and psychological conditions.



2.4 Transformation of care practices

Far from being neutral intermediaries, technologies designed for aged care embody specific notions in their designs of what care means, as well as its organisation and management (Vallès-Peris and Domènech 2020b). When **these conceptualisations intersect with the historical and social conditions of care**, they lead to a transformation of care practices.

In Spain, caring for the elderly and dependent people **has historically fallen to families, especially women** (Digital Future Society 2021). It is undervalued and unpaid work that has been taken for granted until relatively recently. The feminisation of care entails multiple social problems, such as the restriction of employment opportunities for women, the imbalance between paid and unpaid work and the perpetuation of gender inequality.

How is the concept of care understood in terms of technological development? In the case of robotics, during the design process care is understood as a set of activities, organisations and relationships. With this rationale, care can be fragmented into specific and separate tasks, some of which can be delegated to technology.

Another aspect of care is **institutionalised care**, which **also falls heavily on women**. This work, while essential to the well-being of society, is often low-paid. When the logic of fragmented care enters into dialogue with the political and social context without a global rethink of roles and relational processes, **the incorporation of technology can be interpreted as a threat to caregivers**. This threat manifests as the standardisation of roles and tasks, increased division of labour, the emergence of a managerial superstructure, and the disqualification and devaluation of labour (Vallès-Peris and Domènech 2020a).

Nevertheless, **various studies indicate that technology is a promising option that improves the working conditions of caregivers**. It brings potential improvements in time management, reduced physical burden and an interdisciplinary perspective on care, among other things.

In this regard, **technology in itself is neither good nor bad, but nor is it neutral**. Home automation, telehealth and social robotics have ethical, political and social implications in the practices of elder care. For this reason, this paper re-emphasises the **need to carry out a thorough examination of the social effects of their implementation**, but also to **open the design processes of these technologies to include older people and care professionals**.



While the scientific literature often adopts a predominantly technical approach, technological projects have refined their methodologies to better understand the needs and expectations of their audiences and incorporate the end user perspective. In this context, **integrating research methodologies from the social sciences into the development of new care technologies** — analysing the impact of their introduction in the lives of older people — **would bring significant added value**.

In addition, it is essential to approach the study from a multidisciplinary perspective of care, **not only to build technologically sound, but also socially accepted solutions** (Cortellessa et al. 2021). One of the challenges future research should address is the implementation of co-design methodologies that incorporate the perspective of users and caregivers along with those of designers and engineers.

3.1 Technical issues

The lack of advanced systems of interaction and conversation that closely reflect natural language, combined with the high cost of robotic components has driven **the development of touchscreen communication interfaces in complex care robots**. However, these interfaces **are often cold, uncomfortable or ineffective** for older people and even for caregivers who often prefer more natural, warm and agile interactions.



This is where **simple robots, like robotic pets, find their niche**. These robots offer a more intuitive and emotional interaction with technology at more affordable prices, providing more autonomy and lower maintenance as well as minimal assistive functions.

The challenge is to **design more balanced robots that can adapt to the individual needs of users**. They should offer a personalised and meaningful experience, and more sophisticated interaction capacities — beyond simple pre-programmed responses — while maintaining low maintenance requirements and reasonable access costs.

This requires investment in research and development that prioritises artificial intelligence and human-machine interaction. **Understanding and responding more naturally to human language and emotions is a major challenge to overcome**.

Finally, another significant challenge is ensuring that all this technical capacity at the software level **is matched by improvements in the manufacture of mechanical components and sensors.** This would reduce production costs and **improve public accessibility to assistive robotics**, as has occurred in the sectors of telehealth and home automation.

3.2 Psychosocial issues

Firstly, it is crucial not to ignore the fears and uncertainties surrounding this technological transformation in social care. **Resistance to technological innovation is normal** given that emerging technologies are more than mere tools that expand our capabilities, they create new ways of life.

In addition, these feelings reflect the vital importance of care in our lives and the need to approach any change in this area wisely. **Citizens must be involved in decision-making processes, ensuring that they understand and accept the proposed innovations**.

On one hand, **citizen participation must extend beyond mere evaluation of technologies** to encompass active involvement in their development and design (Palmer et al. 2018). Innovating for people rather than with them is a fundamental mistake that can lead to the rejection of technologies. Engaging the population in a co-design process will ensure solutions are genuinely useful and accepted.

But again, technology is not neutral; each innovation incorporates values and perspectives that can have consequences for certain groups. When integrating assistive robots into social care, it is important to consider their effects on human relationships, individual identities and social meaning. This requires conducting case-by-case assessments based on real and plausible experiences rather than on speculative futuristic scenarios.

It is also essential to offer cross-disciplinary training in digital and communication technologies to all levels of society. **Digital literacy is necessary for the correct, measured and responsible use of new assistive devices** (Gros Salvat and Contreras 2006). Only in this way can users be empowered, and technological advancements not discriminate against groups less familiar with new devices.

Finally, there is also a need to reflect on the definition of old age. The literature often presents a homogeneous description, yet the **needs of a 60-year-old person cannot be equated to those of a 90-year-old, nor can those of people with different degrees of health**.

Research is needed that incorporates a heterogeneous assessment of this population segment (Compagna and Kohlbacher 2015). The need becomes more pressing when considering that technological developments are often underpinned by stereotypical perceptions of old age that focus on its less positive aspects like loneliness and weakness or the need for help.



Conclusions and recommendations

The first conclusion from the analysis is that the various technologies identified are at markedly different stages of development. Currently, **the predominant technological proposition of researchers and governments appears to be social robotics, though their social acceptance is not yet an established fact**.

The second conclusion is that **a number of aspects still require empirical research to determine how technology can improve older people's lives**. While there is a determined commitment to social robotics, evidence supporting its suitability is lacking.

The third conclusion addresses the need to **establish mechanisms for analysing the applicability of technologies from a multidisciplinary perspective**. When examining the technological options that promote extended independence, it is insufficient to weigh the pros and cons of specific aspects. The discourse around these technologies should encompass broader considerations regarding the societal model we aspire to, the state of elder care and the definition of quality care.

In this context, the recommendations are structured around two primary axes. Firstly, they stress the **need for an interdisciplinary approach to research in elder care technology**. In addition to the engineering perspective, it is crucial to consider as many other viewpoints as possible to fully grasp the potential of technological devices in elder care. Secondly, they advocate **for the involvement of the target users of these technologies — both the elderly and their caregivers — in the design and manufacturing processes**.

Rather than rely on assumptions regarding what might be beneficial to elder care, **a co-creation-based methodology would facilitate an interdisciplinary approach**, both for needs assessment and for the design or implementation of pilot tests. This co-creation may involve forming focus groups, conducting interviews, using surveys, engaging in participant observation, or organising participatory design activities.

When collaborating with older people, we recommend:

Identifying, informing and involving the target population, as well as other key actors.

- Informing potential participants regarding the topic and what is expected of their involvement.
- Establishing a relationship of trust with the participants, mitigating the risk of reproducing bias and power relations.

- Evaluating the participants' technological literacy levels before collecting data.
- Allocating time and resources to provide support and training to enable them to access the digital environment.
- Conducting a review of good practices for the research (Darley and Carroll 2022).

Implementing co-design for these technologies will not only increase the satisfaction of users, but it will also result in products that better adapt to their genuine needs.



References

AAL Programme. (2023). Home. [online]. Available at: https://www.aal-europe.eu/ (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Aceros, J. (2018). "En casa mientras puedas": construcción discursiva del apego al hogar en personas mayores ("At home while you can": Discursive construction of home attachment in elderly people). Athenea Digital 18(3). [PDF] Available at: https://atheneadigital.net/article/view/v18-n3aceros/2093-pdf-es (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Aceros, J.; Cavalcante, M. and Domènech, M. (2013). *Identidad de lugar en usuarios de teleasistencia: Un análisis conversacional* (Identity of place in telehealth users: A conversational analysis.) Revista Latinoamericana de Psicología, 45 (1), 81-95. [PDF] Available at: https://ddd.uab. cat/record/204154 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Aceros, J., Pols, J. and Domènech, M. (2014). Where is grandma? Home telecare, good ageing and the domestication of later life. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 93, 102-111. [PDF] Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. techfore.2014.01.016 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Anshin, A. (2009). The Intangible Warrior Culture of Japan: Bodily Practices, Mental Attitudes, and Values of the Two-sworded men from the Fifteenth to the Twenty-first Centuries. UNSW. [PDF] Available at: https://doi.org/10.26190/ unsworks/23088 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Asl, A. M., Toribio-Guzmán, J. M., Van der Roest, H., Castro-González, Á., Malfaz, M., Salichs M. A. and Franco Martin, M. (2022). The usability and feasibility validation of the social robot MINI in people with dementia and mild cognitive impairment; a study protocol. BMC Psychiatry, 22(1). [PDF] Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12888-022-04418-9 (Accessed: July 24, 2024) Broekens, J., Heerink, M. and Rosendal, H. (2009). Assistive social robots in elderly care: A review. 2015; 8:94–103). [PDF] https://www.researchgate. net/publication/229058790_Assistive_social_ robots_in_elderly_care_A_review (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Casamayou, A. and Morales González, M. J. (2017). Personas mayores y tecnologías digitales: desafíos de un binomio. Psicología, conocimiento y sociedad 7 (2). [PDF] Available at: http:// www.scielo.edu.uy/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S1688-70262017000200152 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Cifuentes, C., Pinto, M., Céspedes, N. and Múnera, M. (2020). Social Robots in Therapy and Care. Current Robotic Reports 1 (59-74). [online] Available at: https://www.semanticscholar. org/paper/Social-Robots-in-Therapy-and-Care-Cifuentes-Pinto/697425aa9f44bea3722372a01f5fb b83a58193c1 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Compagna, D. and Kohlbacher, F. (2015). The limits of participatory technology development: The case of service robots in care facilities for older people. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 93 (19–31). [online] Available at: https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/ S0040162514002376 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Cortellessa, G., De Benedictis, R., Fracasso, F., Orlandini, A., Umbrico, A. and Cesta, A. (2021) Al and robotics to help older adults: Revisiting projects in search of lessons learned. Paladyn, Journal of Behavioral Robotics, 12 (1). [PDF] Available at: https://doi.org/10.1515/pjbr-2021-0025 (Accessed: July 24, 2024) Darley, A. and Carroll, Á. (2022). Conducting Co-Design with Older People in a Digital Setting: Methodological Reflections and Recommendations. International Journal of Integrated Care, 22 (4). [PDF] Available at: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9733123/ (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Digital Future Society. (2021). Home care and digital platforms in Spain. [PDF] Available at: https://digitalfuturesociety.com/report/homecare-and-digital-platforms-in-spain (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Domènech, M. (2023). Robótica social: aspectos éticos y sociales, en Inteligencia artificial en salud: retos éticos y científicos (Social robotics: ethical and social aspects, in artificial intelligence in health: Ethical and scientific challenges). Cuadernos de la Fundació Víctor Grífols i Lucas, vol. 63, p. 83–97. [PDF] Available at: https://www.fundaciogrifols.org/ documents/4438882/5272129/Q63_inteligencia_ artificial.pdf (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

European Commission. (2017). Attitudes towards the impact of digitisation and automation on daily life. Eurobarometer survey. [PDF] Available at: https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/ detail/2160 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

European Council. (2023). Artificial intelligence act: Council and Parliament strike a deal on the first rules for AI in the world [online] Available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/pressreleases/2023/12/09/artificial-intelligence-actcouncil-and-parliament-strike-a-deal-on-the-firstworldwide-rules-for-ai (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

EU Health Programme. (2019). Health for the EU: A selection of actions funded under the Third EU Health Programme. [PDF] Available at: https:// jaotc.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Health-forthe-EU_30.9.2019.pdf (Accessed: July 24, 2024). Fernández Bernat, J. A., García Valverde, M. D., López Peláez, A., Norro Gañán, E., Serrano Falcón, C., Tomás Jiménez, N. and Urdiales García, C. (2017). Los robots para el cuidado de mayores: un debate interdisciplinar (Robots for the care of the elderly: an interdisciplinary debate). University of Granada. [PDF] Available at: https://sd2.ugr.es/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/ Losrobotsparaelcuidadodelosmayores.pdf (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Fisk, A. D., Czaja, S. J., Rogers, W. A., Charness, N. and Sharit, J. (2009). Designing for Older Adults: Principles and Creative Human Factors Approaches, Second Edition. CRC Press. [PDF] Available at: https://doi. org/10.1201/9781420080681 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

FRA (European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights). (2023). Fundamental rights of older persons: ensuring access to public services in digital societies. [PDF] Available at: https://fra. europa.eu/en/publication/2023/older-people-digitalrights (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Frennert, S. and Östlund, B. (2014). Review: Seven Matters of Concern of Social Robots and Older People. International Journal of Social Robotics, 6 (299-310). [online] Available at: https://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/s12369-013-0225-8 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Fundación Pasqual Maragall. (2021). Actitudes y percepciones de la población española sobre el Alzheimer (Attitudes and perceptions of the Spanish population about Alzheimer's disease). [PDF] Available at: https://fpmaragall.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/09/ResultadoEncuestaFPM_2020_ DEF.pdf (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

García-Soler, Á., Facal, D., Díaz-Orueta, U., Pigini, L., Blasi, L. and Renxi, Q. (2018). Inclusion of service robots in the daily lives of frail older users: A step-by-step definition procedure on users' requirements. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 74 (191–196). [online] Available at: https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/ S0167494316303399 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)



Gros Salvat, B. and Contreras, D. (2006). La alfabetización digital y el desarrollo de competencias ciudadanas (Digital literacy and the development of citizen skills). Available at: https://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/handle/2445/57176 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Hoyo, A., Pardo, M. C., Guzmán, J. L. and Moreno, J. C. (2016). Uso de un robot social de bajo coste con personas mayores dependientes en un centro residencial (Using a low-cost social robot with dependent elderly people in a residential aged care facilities). Minutes of the XXXVII Automation Conference. [PDF] Available at: https://ruc.udc. es/dspace/bitstream/handle/2183/29668/2016_ Hoyo_Angeles_Uso_de_un_robot_social_ de_bajo_coste_con_personas_mayores. pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y (Accessed: July 24, 20244)

Hsu, E. L., Elliot, A., Ishii, Y., Sawai, A. and Katagiri, M. (2020). The development of aged care robots in Japan as a varied process. IDEAS. [online]. Available at: https://ideas.repec.org/a/eee/teinso/ v63y2020ics0160791x20303171.html (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

IDESCAT (2023). Indicadores de estructura de la población por grupos de edad (Indicators of population structure according to age). Available at: https://www.idescat.cat/ indicadors/?id=aec&n=15263&lang=es. (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Imserso. (2011). Envejecimiento Activo: Libro Blanco (Active Ageing: White Paper. [PDF] Available at: http://envejecimiento.csic.es/documentos/ documentos/imserso-libroblancoenvejecimientoac tivo-01.pdf (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Joyce, K. and Loe, M. (2010). A sociological approach to ageing, technology and health. Sociology of Health and Illness, 2 (171–180). [PDF] Available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/20415722/ (Accessed: July 24, 2024) Koh, W. Q., Toomey, E. and Casey, D. (2021). Exploring Barriers and Facilitators to the Implementation of Pet Robots for People With Dementia in Nursing Homes: a Qualitative Research Protocol. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 20. [PDF] Available at: https://journals. sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/16094069211047059 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Kolstad, M., Yamaguchi, N., Babic, A. and Nishihara, Y. (2020). Integrating Socially Assistive Robots into Japanese Nursing Care, in The Importance of Health Informatics in Public Health during a Pandemic, 272, pp. 183–186. Studies in Health Technology and Informatics. [PDF] Available at: https://mab-online.nl/article/90108/ (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Leal, M., Aceros, J. and Domènech M. (2012). Teleasistencia pública en España: consideraciones de sus efectos en los servicios sociales y sanitarios (Telehealth in Spain: Considerations of its effects on social and health services). Social Education, Revista de Intervención Socioeducativa 51. [PDF] Available at: https://core.ac.uk/download/ pdf/18416514.pdf (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Luperto, M., Monroy, J., Moreno, F.-A., Lunardini, F., Renoux, J., Krpic, A., Galindo, C., Ferrante, S., Basilico, N., Gonzalez-Jimenez, J., and Alberto Borghese N. (2023). Seeking - long-term autonomy of assistive mobile robots through the integration with an IoT-based monitoring system. Robotics and Autonomous Systems, 161, p. 104346. [online] Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. robot.2022.104346 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Mlynář, J., Alavi, H., Verma, H. and Cantoni, L. (2018). Towards a Sociological Conception of Artificial Intelligence, in Artificial General Intelligence: 11th International Conference. [PDF] Available at: https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/326525611_ Towards_a_Sociological_Conception_of_Artificial_ Intelligence (Accessed: July 24, 2024) Nomura, M., McLean, S., Miyamori, D., Kakiuchi, Y. and Ikegaya H. (2016). Isolation and unnatural death of elderly people in the aging Japanese society. Science & Justice, 56(2), pp. 80–83. [PDF] Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scijus.2015.12.003 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Oliver, M. (2015). Population ageing and economic growth in Japan. International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy, 35(11), pp. 841-863. [PDF] Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/282460712_Population_ageing_and_ economic_growth_in_Japan (Accessed: July 24, 20244)

Palmer, V. J., Weavell, W., Callander, R., Piper, D., Richard, L., Maher, L., Boyd, H., Herrman, H., Furler, J., Gunn, J., Iedema, R. and Robert, G. (2018). The Participatory Zeitgeist: an explanatory theoretical model of change in an era of coproduction and codesign in healthcare improvement. Medical Humanities, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 247-257. [PDF] Available at: https://mh.bmj.com/content/45/3/247 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Salichs, M. A., Alonso Martín, F., Malfaz, M. and Castillo, J. C. (2017). *Interacción humano robot en el proyecto ROBSEN* (Human robot interaction in the ROBSEN project). Jornadas Nacionales de Robótica (National Robotics Conferences). [PDF] Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/321333117_Interaccion_humano_robot_en_ el_proyecto_ROBSEN/ (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Rozo-Reyes, C.-M. (2010). Consideraciones éticas de la tecnología de asistencia en personas en condición de discapacidad: ¿posibilitar o limitar la autonomía? (Ethical considerations of assistive technology in persons with disabilities: autonomy enabling or limiting?) Revista Latinoamericana de Bioética, 10 (1). [PDF] Available at: https:// www.redalyc.org/pdf/1270/127020499005.pdf (Accessed: July 24, 2024) Tellex, S., Gopalan, N., Kress-Gazit, H., Matuszek, C. (2020). Robots That Use Language. Annual Review of Control, Robotics, and Autonomous Systems, 3. [PDF] Available at: https://www.annualreviews. org/content/journals/10.1146/annurevcontrol-101119-071628 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

UNESCO. (2023). Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence. [PDF] Available at: https:// unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000381137 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Vallès-Peris, N. and Domènech, M. (2020a). Robots para los cuidados: La ética de la acción mesurada frente a la incertidumbre (Robots for care: The ethics of the action measured against uncertainty). Cuadernos de bioética, 32 (101). [PDF] Available at: https://dialnet.unirioja.es/servlet/ articulo?codigo=7463007 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Vallès-Peris, N. and Domènech, M. (2020b). Roboticists' Imaginaries of Robots for Care: The Radical Imaginary as a Tool for an Ethical Discussion. Engineering Studies 12 (3). [PDF] Available at: https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/344266246_ Roboticists'_Imaginaries_of_Robots_for_Care_ The_Radical_Imaginary_as_a_Tool_for_an_Ethical_ Discussion (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Wright, J. (2023). Inside Japan's long experiment in automating elder care, MIT Technology Review, 9 January. [PDF] Available at: https://www. technologyreview.com/2023/01/09/1065135/japanautomating-eldercare-robots/ (Accessed: July 24, 2024)

Yano Research Institute. (2022). Study on the Nursing Care Robot Market [PDF]. Available at: https://tomoruba.eiicon.net/articles/4255 (Accessed: July 24, 2024)



Acknowledgements

Authors

Rosanna Ramírez-Nethersole, FPI intern (predoctoral) at the Autonomous University of Barcelona (UAB). Currently studying for a PhD at the UAB Department of Social Psychology. Her research focuses on studying the interaction between humans and robots through the lens of Science, Technology and Society.

Joan Regí, documentary technician of the Ecological and Forestry Applications Research Centre. Currently studying for a PhD at the UAB Department of Social Psychology. His research involves mapping the facts at issue surrounding the implementation of social robotics for elderly care.

Miquel Domènech, coordinator of the Barcelona Science and Technology Studies Group (STS-b). His research interests focus on the social implications of care technologies, the promotion of citizen participation in techno-scientific issues and analysis of the ethical dilemmas posed by technological innovations.

Translation, editing and design

Lara Cummings, translator and editor, English edition

Marta Campo, editor and proofreader

Manuela Moulian, designer and illustrator

Digital Future Society Think Tank.

Thanks to the following colleagues for their contributions and support in the preparation of this report:

Chelo Fernández, director of the observatory of the Mobile World Capital Barcelona Foundation

Tanya Álvarez, researcher, Digital Future Society Think Tank

Please quote this report as:

Digital Future Society. (2024). Incorporating new assistive technologies into elder care and the related ethical challenges.

Contact details:

If you would like to contact the Digital Future Society Think Tank team, please email thinktank@digitalfuturesociety.com

